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I. Introduction 

The University of Massachusetts (“UMass” or “University”) engaged Saul Ewing Arnstein & 
Lehr, LLP (the “Investigators”) to investigate allegations of misconduct against Alex Morse 
(“Morse”), adjunct instructor of Urban Government and Politics in UMass’ College of Social and 
Behavioral Sciences (“SBS”).1  UMass requested that the Investigators make a preliminary 
determination as to whether Morse’s conduct, as publicly alleged, violated applicable University 
policies. 

On August 6, 2020, a group of student-led organizations comprised of the College Democrats of 
Massachusetts (“College Democrats”),2 the UMass Democrats (“UMass Democrats”), and the 
Amherst College Democrats notified Morse, via email, that the group was disinviting Morse from 
future events based on its view that it was “no longer appropriate to encourage interaction” 
between its group members and Morse.  See Exhibit 1.3  At the time, Morse, in addition to serving 
as the Mayor of Holyoke, Massachusetts, was a candidate for Representative of Massachusetts’ 
First Congressional District, a seat held by Congressman Richard Neal, another UMass adjunct 
faculty member.4  The College Democrats’ email raised three central allegations: (1) Morse 
regularly matched with its members and other students on dating apps such as Tinder and Grindr; 
(2) Morse used College Democrats events to meet college students and to later connect with them 
via social media in a manner that made the students uncomfortable; and (3) Morse had sexual 
contact with college students including UMass Amherst students. 

Response to the College Democrats’ communication to Morse was swift.  The letter’s timing, 
within weeks of the democratic primary in Morse’s congressional race, and its tenor, specifically 
its allegations of sexual misconduct against Morse, one of only a few openly gay elected officials 
in the state, led to accusations of political dirty tricks and homophobia.  Leaders of the UMass 
Democrats faced intense scrutiny and backlash after text messages and group chats - in which they 
purportedly made light of Morse’s social media communications and openly discussed the 
potential political fallout of public exposure of those communications - were released to the 
media.5  Similarly, the Massachusetts State Democratic Committee (“DSC”), the state party’s 

 
 
1 Morse joined the UMass faculty in 2014.   
2 According to its website, the College Democrats of Massachusetts is the college outreach wing of the Massachusetts 
Democratic Party with chapters located at numerous schools throughout the state, including UMass and Amherst 
College.  Students Witness One and Witness Two held board positions in both UMass Democrats and College Dems.   
3 The following day, the email’s contents, but not the email itself, were reported in the UMass student newspaper, the 
Daily Collegian, and in the online publication, Politico. 
4 College Democrats sent the email to Morse’s campaign  email account and to his personal email address.  It does not 
appear that the email was sent to Morse’s UMass email account.   
5 The UMass Democrats later issued a statement to Morse, via email, apologizing for the “careless” language in the 
August 6, 2020 language and the unintended homophobic backlash it caused.  See Exhibit 2.  The students did not 
retract the letter’s central allegations.   
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governing body, commissioned an external independent review of its role in the release and 
publication of the College Democrats’ letter to Morse. 

In an August 9, 2020 public statement, Morse admitted to having had consensual relationships 
with local college students whom he met using dating apps but denied ever using his position of 
power as Mayor of Holyoke or as a UMass lecturer for romantic or sexual gain.  See Exhibit 3.6  
Morse apologized if students were made to feel uncomfortable by their interactions with him and 
pledged his full support and participation in the University’s review process. 

The Investigators reviewed the students’ allegations to determine whether a preponderance of the 
evidence supports a finding that Morse violated University policies governing sexual harassment, 
misconduct, and consensual relationships between faculty and students.  This report summarizes 
the investigation and, as further detailed below, concludes that, over the course of several years, 
Morse frequently communicated with University students on social media in a manner that was 
reasonably interpreted by those students and others as suggestive of his intent to pursue dating or 
sexual relationships with those students.  The Investigators found that, in a number of instances, 
Morse’s communications caused students to feel uncomfortable and that this conduct ultimately 
led to the UMass Democrats’ decision to disinvite him from its events. 

While the totality of Morse’s conduct, including his admitted consensual relationships with 
students he met using dating apps, supports a finding that Morse intended to pursue dating and 
sexual relationships with UMass Democrats members and other students, the Investigators found 
that there is insufficient evidence of Morse having engaged in such conduct with students for 
whom he had grading, supervisory, advisory or employment responsibility as is required by the 
University’s Policy on Consensual Relationships.7  Further, while the evidence supports a finding 
that a number of students, including those who Morse engaged with on social media, were made 
uncomfortable by Morse’s conduct, there is insufficient evidence that Morse unreasonably 
interfered with any student’s academic performance or with a student’s ability to participate in 
University programs or activities as is required by the University’s sexual harassment policy.  
Finally, the Investigators leave for the University’s leadership to assess whether Morse’s pursuit 
of dating or sexual relationships with students, while not violative of the text of existing policies, 
conflicts with the University’s general expectations for the conduct of its employees, including 

 
 
6 According to the final report of the DSC investigation (hereinafter “the Jacques Report”), Morse emailed a statement  
to the College Democrats  shortly after receiving the letter, in which he expressed similar sentiments to those found 
in his August 9, 2020 public statement. 
7 The Investigators did not assess whether Morse’s conduct conflicts with the intent, while not the letter, of  University 
policies designed to highlight the power imbalance between faculty members and students and to discourage, while 
not prohibiting outright, consensual personal relationships between faculty and students due to their “inherently 
problematic” nature.  See University Policy on Consensual Relationships Between Faculty and Students, attached 
hereto as Appendix A. 



 
 

3 
 
 

those requiring employees to conduct themselves in a manner that accords respect to themselves 
and others.8 

II. Scope of Investigation 

A. Document Review 

The Investigation included review of UMass records, media reports, emails, and social media 
messages and other materials including, but not limited to, the following:   

 Class Rosters for Urban Government and Politics (2014-2019);9 
 Student Evaluations for Urban Government and Politics (2015-2019);10 
 UMass Democrats Membership List (2009-Present); 
 UMass Democrats Board Email and Chat Communications Related to 

Allegations Against Morse; 
 UMass student and faculty email communications related to allegations 

against Morse (October 2019-Present);11 
 GroupMe Chat Logs, Text Messages, and Social Media Communications of 

Interviewees; and  
 Final Report of Independent Review of the Massachusetts Democratic State 

Committee (“DSC”) 
 

B. Witness Interviews 

The Investigators identified and contacted eleven (11) potential witnesses for interviews in this 
matter.  Of these, three (3) individuals did not respond to interview requests or refused to be 
interviewed.  In light of the current public health emergency, the remaining eight (8) witnesses 
were interviewed via videoconference. To protect the privacy of students who provided 
information to the Investigators or whose names appear in witness statements or other documents, 
the Investigators have assigned each student an unique identifier.  

 Witness One – UMass/UMass Democrats student 

 
 
8 See University Principles of Employee Conduct, attached hereto as Appendix B. 
9 The Investigators note that, although we reviewed rosters dating back to 2014, UMass’s policy governing consensual 
relationships between students and faculty was not implemented until 2018.   
10 The evaluations contained mostly positive, and otherwise neutral, statements and ratings from Morse’s students.  
None of the narrative responses mentioned inappropriate behavior from Morse. 
11 The University produced more than 6,000 emails and other documents from 19 total custodians including students 
and faculty members.  Among the documents retrieved during this review are Exhibit 1, the College Democrats’  
August 6, 2020 email to Morse; Exhibit 4, the College Democrats board’s August 7, 2020 email to its chapter 
presidents advising of the board’s decision to disinvite Morse from events; Exhibit 5, College Democrats’ invitation 
for Morse to attend its October 5, 2019 Western MA Kickoff; and multiple media inquiries to UMass students in the 
wake of the letter’s release. 
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 Witness Two – UMass/UMass Democrats student 
 Witness Three – UMass/UMass Democrats student 
 Witness Four – UMass/UMass Democrats alum  
 Witness Five – UMass/UMass Democrats student 
 Witness Six – UMass student 
 Witness Seven – UMass/UMass Democrats student 
 Witness Eight – UMass/UMass Democrats student 
 Student A – UMass/UMass Democrats student – declined to be interviewed  
 Student B – UMass/UMass Democrats alum – did not respond to interview 

requests 
 Student C – Non-UMass/College Democrats student – declined to be  

interviewed 
 

The Investigators invited Mayor Morse to participate in the investigation.  Through his attorney, 
he declined the Investigators’ interview request. 
 
Some witnesses were also interviewed as part of the DSC’s independent review.  The Investigators 
reviewed the final report of that review (“the Jacques Report”) and where there is material conflict 
between a witness’s statement to the Investigators and a statement attributed to him/her in the 
Jacques Report, it is noted herein. 
 
Student C, who served as a  College Democrats board member during the 2019-2020 academic 
year, declined multiple requests for an interview in this matter but appears to have participated in 
the DSC independent review.  Mayor Morse similarly declined the Investigators’ interview 
request, but also appears to have participated in the DSC review.  Where the statements attributed 
to either Student C or Mayor Morse in the Jacques Report are relevant to this matter, they are 
included in this report and identified thusly. 
 
Other students were named by interviewees or are identified in emails, text messages, or other 
documents.  The Investigators did not attempt to interview these individuals. 
 

 Student D – Non-UMass/College Democrats of America student   
 Student E – UMass/UMass Democrats student  
 Student F – UMass student 
 Student G – Non-UMass/College Democrats student  

 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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III. Factual Summary 

The following summarizes the investigation based on witness interviews and document review.   

A. Morse’s Relationship with UMass and College Democrats  

Alex Morse began serving as Mayor of Holyoke, MA in 2012 and joined the UMass adjunct faculty 
two years later.  He appears to have been a years-long participant in College Democrats-sponsored 
events in Western Massachusetts.12  By most accounts, Morse, one of the youngest elected officials 
in the state, was widely known in politically-active student circles and seen as an up-and-coming 
influential person in Massachusetts politics having recently been named one of Forbes Magazine’s 
“30 Under 30.13”  However, as far back as 2015, according to Witness Two, a UMass student, it 
was an open secret within UMass Democrats that Morse communicated with students on social 
media and matched with students on dating apps such as Tinder.  Morse was also rumored to have 
had dating and sexual relationships with UMass students.14  Morse, himself, admits to having 
engaged in such relationships.  See Exhibit 3. 
 
As new students enrolled at UMass and joined UMass Democrats, they learned of Morse’s 
reputation within UMass Democrats  from upperclassmen and alumni who maintained contact with 
the group.  In 2018, Witness Two saw Morse’s profile on Tinder.15  The two were identified as a 
potential “match,” meaning that they each fell within the other’s list of match criteria (age, location 
and gender).  Witness Two deduced that Morse’s age preference was set low enough to capture 
the then-18 year-old Witness Two and that Morse’s location criteria encompassed the UMass 
campus where Witness Two lived.   
 
Although Morse did not “swipe back” indicating an interest in completing the match and never 
exchanged messages with Witness Two, Witness Two reported the potential Tinder match to 
Student B, a UMass Democrats upperclassman.  According to Witness Two, Student B revealed 
that Morse was known to match with UMass students, some as young as 18 years old on Tinder 

 
 
12 It appears that Morse attended at least two College Democrats events in 2019.  One media outlet pronounced College 
Democrats as a “potential organizational asset” to Morse.  See Exhibit 6 (reporting from the April 2019 College Dems 
annual convention and describing College Dems events as “familiar territory” for Morse). 
13 The University announced Morse’s Forbes Magazine feature on its website in 2018.  See 
https://polsci.umass.edu/news/mayor-alex-morse-named-30-under-30-forbes-magazine.   
14 According to the Jacques Report, Student C stated that it was “well-known among College Dems” that Morse “used 
his position as Mayor to hook up with his students.”  While the weight of the evidence supports the conclusion that 
Morse had earned a reputation for pursuing dating and sexual relationships with students, no witness stated or even 
intimated that Morse leveraged his position as Mayor to facilitate those relationships.  It was only after the October 5, 
2019 College Dems event that, according to witnesses in this matter, students began to express the view that Morse 
attended College Dems events in order to meet eligible college students. 
15 Witness Two reports that he sought to accumulate Tinder matches to win a contest for which the person with the 
most matches received tickets to an upcoming concert by rapper Cardi B.   
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and other social media applications.  Student B also revealed that he personally matched with 
Morse on Tinder while he was a student in Morse’s class or soon after the class ended.16       
 
While no witnesses report having heard anyone express discomfort with Morse’s conduct prior to 
the fall of 2019, the general consensus among UMass Democrats students, past and present, was 
that, at the very least, Morse’s conduct was “weird,” in that his having engaged in dating and 
sexual relationships with University students was, according to witnesses, an open secret.  Some 
students found Morse’s Tinder preferences especially troubling since Tinder was known to them 
as a “hook-up” app, meaning for individuals interested in sexual liaisons, rather than platonic 
interaction.  Witness Four, an UMass Democrats alum, described Morse’s social media 
interactions with students as “widely known,” particularly amongst the University’s gay students.  
He reports that, during his time at UMass (2015-2018), he knew of two students who matched with 
Morse on Tinder.  However, according to Witness Four, the communications between these 
students and Morse never escalated to in-person meetings or any sexual contact.17 
 
In September of 2019, Witness Two’s fellow UMass Democrats board member, Witness One, also 
matched with Morse on Tinder. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 7.   
 

 
 
16 The Investigators confirmed, through review of Morse’s class rosters, that Student B registered for Morse’s class in 
a year that pre-dates implementation of the Consensual Relationships Policy. 
17 Witness Four also reported that a third friend, who still attends UMass, reported having sexual contact with Morse 
in the summer of 2019.  Witness Four declined to identify this student or the friends who reportedly matched with 
Morse on Tinder.  He did not know whether any had taken Morse’s class. 
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Witness One recognized Morse from having attended a  College Democrats’ event  that past spring, 
during which the two participated jointly in a panel discussion.  Witness One was surprised to see 
Morse on Tinder due to his role as a Mayor; at the same time, Morse’s mayoral role “appealed” to 
Witness One and he decided to pursue a personal relationship.  The two exchanged messages via 
Tinder, but did not arrange to meet in person.  After the exchange of a couple of messages over a 
few days, Witness One sent Morse a photo from the event where they first met and asked of Morse, 
“now, do you remember me?” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 6.18   
 
Morse replied “yes,” and promptly un-matched with Witness One. 
 
Soon after beginning his Tinder messaging with Morse, Witness One discussed the match with 
friends from both College Democrats and UMass Democrats.  According to Witness One, some 
of his friends were surprised that Morse was on Tinder while others reported that they had heard 
from friends who had similar experiences with Morse on the app.  At least two members of the 
group, Students A and C voiced their discomfort, specifically because of the age difference 
between Witness One and Morse.19  Witness One did not share his friends’ discomfort initially, 
but he now reports that he became discomfited by the fact that his attraction to Morse stemmed 
from the “allure” of Morse’s role as a Mayor, which Witness One considered a position of power. 
 
 

 
 
18 Based on the time frame and Witness One’s description of the event, the Investigators were able to identify the 
event and the photograph of Witness One and Morse. 
19 Morse’s profile indicated that he was then 30 years old.  Witness One was 19 years old at the time. 
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B. The October 5, 2019 College Democrats Western MA Kickoff and Its 
Aftermath 

In July 2019, Morse announced his candidacy for Representative of Massachusetts’ 1st 
Congressional District.20  His opponent was incumbent Congressman Richard Neal, who, like 
Morse, held an adjunct faculty position at UMass.  By the fall of 2019, UMass Democrats and 
other politically active student groups began hosting and facilitating programming for candidates 
in several local, state, and national races.  When asked if Morse’s social media activity and 
rumored pursuit of dating and sexual relationships with students was considered in determining 
whether to engage with him and his campaign, Witness Two, a UMass Democrats and College 
Democrats board member, stated that it was not discussed.  To that end, in mid-September 2019, 
Witness Two e-mailed Morse to inquire about the availability of positions within Morse’s 
congressional campaign for UMass Democrats members.  See Exhibit 8.  Later that fall, however, 
things began to change.  Specifically, in the aftermath of the College Democrats’ Western 
Massachusetts kick-off at Holyoke Community College, when Morse followed and messaged at 
least four (4) UMass Democrats/College Democrats members within days of the event,21  the 
group’s discussion of Morse’s overtures to its members on social media reached a fever pitch and 
the group began to suspect that Morse was using their events to meet and connect with students 
socially.   
 
The October 5, 2019 College Democrats’ event included speeches and panel presentations from 
several local, state, and federal officials.  Student C, a College Democrats board member, invited 
Morse to the event months earlier and coordinated outreach to Morse and his staff.  See Exhibit 
5.22  Witness One moderated the “mayor’s panel” which included Morse and mayors of 
surrounding Western Massachusetts communities.  He and Morse spoke briefly at the panel’s 
conclusion.  According to Witness One, Morse did not indicate that he remembered Witness One 
from their Tinder messaging.  That evening, Morse “followed” Witness One on Instagram and sent 
him a direct message (“DM”) thanking Witness One for moderating the mayor’s panel.  The two 
began a weekslong exchange of messages via Instagram.   
 
Witness Three also attended the October 5th event and was in the audience for the mayor’s panel.  
When the presentation ended, Witness Three approached Morse, introduced himself, and asked 
about potential volunteer and internship opportunities with  Morse’s campaign.  They spoke briefly 

 
 
20 See Nik DeCosta-Klipa, This 30-year-old Massachusetts mayor is challenging New England’s longest-serving 
congressman, Boston.com, Jul. 22, 2019,  https://www.boston.com/news/politics/2019/07/22/alex-morse-richard-
neal. 
21 The investigation revealed that Morse followed/messaged UMass students Witness One, Witness Three, and 
Witness Six as well as Student G, a non-UMass student. 
22 According to the Jacques Report, Student C stated that UMass Democrats students and others were “very angry” 
about Morse’s alleged behavior and had been pushing her to make a public statement about him “for over 3 years.” 
However, her emails to Morse congratulating him on his decision to run for Congress and inviting him to attend the 
October 5, 2019 kickoff betray no such sentiment.  See Exhibit 5.  
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and Morse gave Witness Three his business card.23  By the next day, Morse followed Witness 
Three on Instagram and Witness Three followed him back.  Although Witness Three was curious 
as to how Morse located him on Instagram since he did not give Morse his last name at the event, 
he noted that Morse also followed a number of Witness Three’s friends and presumed that Morse 
found him through one of those shared contacts.  Witness Three and Morse exchanged Instagram 
messages about Morse’s campaign activities for a brief period.  Witness Three states that he did 
not find anything unusual in their communications because he views Instagram as a platform for 
platonic connections in contrast to dating apps like Tinder.  Although their communications did 
not include discussion of volunteer or internship opportunities with Morse’s campaign, Witness 
Three noted that, but for the fact that he later learned of Morse having messaged other students on 
Tinder and Instagram, he would not have interpreted Morse’s outreach to him on Instagram as 
evidence of interest in pursuing a physical or romantic relationship.24 
 
Based on Morse’s rumored matching with UMass students on Tinder, Witness Three alerted  
Witness Two and other UMass Democrats board members to Morse’s outreach to him.  He also 
sent a screenshot of Morse’s initial Instagram message.  At that time, Witness Two told Witness 
Three that both he and Witness One had previously matched with Morse on Tinder.  Witness Two 
also told Witness One about Witness Three having been contacted by Morse after the October 5th 
event.25  Witness One and Witness Three knew one another from UMass Democrats but were not 
particularly close.  On October 6th, Witness One texted Witness Three, attaching screenshots of 
his messages with Morse, and asked whether the “Morse force” had also contacted Witness Three: 
 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
23 Witness Three reports that he was later told by other students that Morse gave him a “look” when he entered the 
event (indicating romantic or sexual interest).  Witness Three did not observe anything of that nature.   
24 According to the Jacques Report, Witness Three reported that, given Morse’s professional stature, the initial 
Instagram outreach was “weird,” and that he thought Morse’s heart emoji response to one of Witness Three’s 
Instagram posts was “creepy.” 
25 Witness Three states that both Witnesses One and Two expressed discomfort with Morse’s outreach to them on 
Tinder.  While Witness Three understood their discomfort, he also questioned why a college student would set their 
Tinder preference to include matches in Morse’s age range if, in fact, they felt that matching with someone Morse’s 
age was “creepy.” 
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See Exhibit 9. 
 
Witness One and Witness Three continued to exchange messages in which they joked about their 
respective interest in pursuing a relationship with Morse.  Neither appeared to view Morse’s 
communications as evidence of Morse’s efforts to secure internships or other opportunities for 
them.  Rather, Witness Three appears to share Witness One’s interpretation of Morse’s outreach 
as problematic and suggestive of Morse’s intent to pursue a dating or sexual relationship with 
Witness One.  See generally Exhibit 9.  In a separate exchange with Witness Two around that 
same time, Witness Three predicted that it was “only a matter of time” before someone like Morse 
gets “metooed.” See Exhibit 18.  
 
Witness Six, a UMass Democrats member who attended the College Democrats’ October 5th 
kickoff, also connected with Morse on Instagram after the event.  Witness Six and a female friend 
were in the audience for the mayor’s panel and each followed Morse on Instagram while the 
presentation was in progress.  After the panel, they introduced themselves to Morse and expressed 
interest in volunteering for Morse’s campaign.  According to Witness Six, his female friend did 
most of the talking.  However, both were surprised when Witness Six, and not his friend, received 
a subsequent direct message from Morse on Instagram.  Witness Six did not think the content of 
Morse’s initial message was particularly problematic, but noted that Morse did not reach out in the 
“campaign kind of way” he expected.  Rather, Morse’s message, “Hey man, it was nice meeting 
you on Saturday!” coupled with the surrounding circumstances raised his suspicions; that is, Morse 
unexpectedly following and messaging him, and not his friend, even though she contributed more 
to the discussion with Morse than Witness Six.  Based on these concerns, Witness Six crafted a 
cordial but closed-ended response to Morse because he did not want the discussion to go any 
further.  Morse responded with a heart-shaped emoji but did not attempt to contact Witness Six 
again.  See Exhibit 10.  Witness Six told Witness One about Morse’s outreach and, in response, 
Witness One cautioned Witness Six to “be careful,” because Witness One had “heard things about 
[Morse].”  On October 8th, Witness One informed Witness Two and Student C about Witness Six 
via their group text.  See Exhibit 11. 
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Of the three known UMass Democrats members who Morse messaged after the October 5th event, 
only Witness One continued communicating with Morse for an extended period.  Witness One and 
Morse exchanged messages into November 2019.  Witness One described their communications 
as non-intrusive but personal; for example, he would tell Morse about his family and how his 
classes were going and Morse would tell him about his weekend activities.  Morse also made 
references to the two learning more about one another and getting to know each other.  See 
generally Exhibit 12.  At some point during their discussions, Morse added Witness One to his 
Instagram “close friends” stories, meaning that Witness One could see some of Morse’s posts that 
others could not see. 
 
According to Witness One, the tenor of Morse’s communications changed in late October/early 
November when Witness One posted a photo of himself and a friend in their Halloween costumes.  
Witness One and his friend were dressed as Dalmatians.  Both were fully clothed and the costumes  
showed little skin.  Still, Witness One felt that the costume was sexually provocative because his  
shirt had fishnet material along the arms and chest area and he and his friend were seated at the 
end of a leash. Soon after Witness One posted the photo, Morse commented “Cute costume!” to 
which Witness One replied, “Thanks!”  However, Witness One discontinued communications with 
Morse from that point.  He did not “unfollow” or “block” Morse.  To Witness One, Morse’s 
comment meant that Morse, too, thought the costume was sensual, which made Witness One 
uncomfortable.  He began to feel that, if Morse intended their relationship to be professional, then 
Morse would have emailed him rather than communicated via Instagram.  Witness One added that 
he became increasingly “creeped out” because of Morse’s age, but at the same time, felt that he 
had no choice but to respond to Morse’s messages.  Though never expressly stated or insinuated 
by Morse, Witness One was concerned that Morse could potentially use his influence as a mayor 
to interfere with Witness One’s prospects of working in politics. 
 
As he did with the Tinder communications in September, Witness One shared his and Morse’s 
ongoing Instagram dialogue with his fellow UMass Democrats board members and others.  In his 
interview, Witness One acknowledged that much of his and his friends’ fall 2019 discussion about 
Morse was immature.  From the onset, it is clear that the group interpreted Morse’s outreach as 
suggestive of his intent to pursue a dating or sexual relationship with Witness One.  For example, 
their messages included the following: 
 

Witness One shared Morse’s first Instagram message: 
   
 

Witness Two replied stating: 
 
 
Student C later responded: 
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Student C remarked:  
 
 
 

Alluding to Morse’s status as Holyoke mayor, Witness Two chimed in: 
 
 
 
Student C then asked Witness One what, if anything, prevented Witness One from 
pursing a romantic relationship with Morse, to which Witness One replied: 
 
 

Witness Two added: 
 
 

Witness One replied:  
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 13. 
 

C. UMass Democrats Board Members’ Growing Concerns About Morse  

Despite the light-hearted nature of their initial chat messages in the aftermath of the October 5th 
College Democrats event, College Democrats’ and UMass Democrats’ board members were also 
troubled by Morse’s conduct and grew increasingly concerned as time progressed and as reports 
of Morse’s outreach to other students accumulated.  On October 6th, for instance, the following 
exchange took place: 
 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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See Exhibit 14. 
 
According to several witnesses, Student A reported to her fellow board members that she knew of 
at least two UMass students who were purported to have had sexual contact with Morse, one of 
whom reported to her that he felt uncomfortable about the encounter in its aftermath.26  At the 
time, Student A was one of the most outspoken UMass Democrats board members advocating for  

 
 
26 Student A denied the Investigators’ interview requests.  As such, we cannot confirm her report to her fellow board 
members that she received firsthand accounts from students alleging to have had sexual contact with Morse.    
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the need to limit Morse’s interactions with UMass Democrats.  She was not alone, however.  
Within weeks of the October 5th College Democrats kickoff event and Morse’s outreach to at least 
three (3) UMass students, the board members began to educate themselves as to the potential 
consequences of Morse’s social media communications and related behavior.  On November 6, 
2019, the following exchange took place between Student C and Witnesses One and Two: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 15. 
 
Witness Two recalled that UMass Democrats board members began discussing their collective 
concerns about Morse’s behavior in October 2019 following the College Democrats event.  At that 
time, the board only discussed whether or not to encourage members to support Morse’s 
congressional campaign.  Witness Two reports having received a call from Morse’s campaign 
manager, Max Clermont, asking him to tell UMass Democrats members about an intern program 
with Morse’s campaign.  Despite having e-mailed Morse in September seeking such opportunities 
for UMass Democrats members,27  Witness Two told the UMass Democrats board that he did not 
want to advertise the opportunity due to concerns about Morse’s conduct.  The board agreed and 
ultimately determined that they would not promote opportunities for their members to work with 
Morse but that they would not discourage members from pursuing such activities on their own. 
 
Over the next several months, UMass Democrats board members received additional reports of 
Morse’s communications with other students over social media.  On October 24th, Student C told 
Witness One that Morse followed Student G, another College Democrats member (a non-UMass  
student), on Instagram and added the student to his Instagram “close friends” story.  See Exhibit 
16.  In addition, in February 2020, while attending the College Democrats of America Conference 
in Arizona, UMass Democrats board members met Student D, a non-UMass student, who told 

 
 
27 See Exhibit 8. 
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them that Morse also followed him on Instagram after the two met at a fundraising event at another 
school.28  According to Student D, Morse sent him direct messages commenting on Student D’s 
photos in a manner Student D deemed flirtatious. 
 
In June or July 2020, Witness Seven, another UMass Democrats board member and her boyfriend, 
who was also in UMass Democrats, decided to “test” whether Morse only communicated with 
young men over social media.  Witness Seven was already following Morse on Instagram, but she 
unfollowed him, and then followed him again at the same time that her boyfriend started following 
him in hopes that Morse would receive simultaneous notices of the students’ following him on 
Instagram.  As Witness Seven suspected, Morse followed her boyfriend back within a day, but 
never followed Witness Seven back.  She believed this proved her theory that Morse was only 
communicating with male students.   
 
Over the course of the summer, the UMass Democrats board continued to field anecdotes from its 
members and others who claimed to have knowledge of Morse’s intimate contact with students.  
Witness One and Witness Seven recalled that UMass Democrats board member Student A reported 
that she had heard directly from two UMass students who revealed to her that they had sexual 
contact with Morse.  According to Witness One and Witness Seven, Student A reported that one 
of the students felt uncomfortable about his encounter with Morse after learning that Morse was 
the mayor of neighboring Holyoke.29 
 
Due to Morse’s seemingly ongoing troublesome conduct, UMass Democrats board members 
began to further distance the organization from Morse and his campaign in the 2020 spring 
semester.  According to Witness One, College Democrats held 9 virtual “Congressional Town 
Hall” events in the spring of 2020 where local elected officials and candidates were featured 
speakers.  Morse was purposefully not invited.  The UMass Democrats board also intentionally 
withheld announcements to their members about intern opportunities on Morse’s campaign that 
his campaign manager, Max Clermont, asked them to advertise and promote. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
28 According to Witness One and Witness Seven, Student D approached the UMass Democrats group after learning 
that they were from Morse’s part of the state and struck up a conversation during which he revealed that he was 
communicating with Morse on Instagram.   
29 According to the Jacques Report, Witness One reported that Student A told him of “multiple friends” who felt 
uncomfortable about their sexual encounters with Morse.  In contrast, Witness One told the Investigators that only 
one of Student A’s friends felt uncomfortable about his sexual contact with Morse which matches Witness Seven’s 
recollection of what Student A reported to the UMass Democrats board.  Witness One did concede, however, that he  
struggled to separate information he knew prior to August 6th from details he learned after College Democrats sent the 
letter to Morse. 
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D. UMass Democrats’ Internal Disagreements About Morse  

Not all UMass Democrats members were aware of the board’s concerns.  In fact, a number of  non-
board members continued to support Morse and his campaign.  Witness Eight, for instance, had a 
years-long relationship with Morse.  At the College Democrats October 5th event, she reconnected 
with Morse and, by the end of November, was volunteering on his congressional campaign.  
Witness Five, another non-board member, began supporting Morse’s campaign after reading an 
article about him in September 2019.  Witness Three, seemingly undeterred by Morse’s subsequent 
outreach to him via Instagram after the October 5th event, also supported Morse’s campaign.  See 
supra section III(B), p.8-9.30    
 
Witnesses Three, Five and Eight recalled instances in which Witness Two expressed bias against 
Morse in favor of Rep. Neal who Witness Two identified as a potential source of post-graduate 
employment.  In the wake of his revelation to Witness Two that Morse had followed him on 
Instagram after the College Democrats event, Witness Three recalled Witness Two stating over 
text message that Morse’s behavior had caused Witness Two to be a “Neal Stan.31”  See Exhibit 
17.  The two discussed the possibility of Morse being “me tooed” and the potential damage his 
conduct could do to his campaign:  In one message, Witness Two inserted a meme depicting the 
aftermath of the leak of Morse’s behavior to the public: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
30 Witnesses Three, Five and Eight all  report that they continued to support Morse’s campaign even after release of 
the August 6th letter. 
31 According to the Urban Dictionary, “stan” is an overzealous maniacal fan for any celebrity or athlete.  Urban 
Dictionary (Jan. 2, 2006), https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=Stan.  
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See Exhibit 17. 
   
Witness Two recalled stating that it would “sink Morse’s campaign” for Congress if more people 
knew about his behavior with college students.  Witness Two explained, however, that he did not 
mean that he would sink Morse’s campaign; rather, he meant that if people knew about Morse’s 
conduct with college students, that would inevitably have a negative impact on his chances for 
winning the congressional election.  Witness Two also acknowledged having made “flippant” 
remarks about his job prospects with Rep. Neal and stated that these remarks were intended as a 
joke, as was the meme depicting Morse being taken away by the “horny police” after his conduct 
was made public.  
 
There was no evidence of Witness Two or any other UMass Democrats board member having 
contacted Rep. Neal or his campaign about Morse’s alleged conduct.  Similarly, there is no 
evidence that Rep. Neal or anyone working on his behalf had any knowledge or involvement in 
this matter.  The evidence does reveal that Witness Two, despite having been an active participant 
in board member group chats about the troubling nature of Morse’s conduct, had all but 
disappeared from the discussions by the spring of 2020.  He did not take part in any of the summer 
of 2020 discussion between UMass Democrats and College Democrats board members about 
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going public with the allegations against Morse and was only contacted about the letter on the eve 
of its public release.   
 
UMass Democrats non-board members also expressed frustration at what they perceived as the  
board’s fostering of a culture in the organization that, without explanation, inappropriately 
discouraged support for Morse, particularly in the months leading up to the August 6, 2020 
disinvitation letter.  Witness Eight recalled that, during the fall of 2019, she occasionally posted in 
the UMass Democrats members’ GroupMe about opportunities for other students to join her as a 
volunteer on Morse’s campaign.  However, no one responded.32  In contrast, the other GroupMe 
participants seemed to always respond when members posted about volunteer opportunities on 
other campaigns.  In particular, according to Witness Eight, there was one UMass Democrats board 
member, Student E, who typically “liked” all campaign-related posts, but never liked Witness 
Eight’s posts about Morse.  Moreover, UMass Democrats board members never included volunteer 
opportunities for Morse’s campaign in emails to UMass Democrats members listing volunteer 
opportunities for other campaigns. 
 
Witness Eight’s frustration intensified on August 2, 2020 after she posted yet another volunteer 
opportunity for the Morse campaign in the UMass Democrats GroupMe chat and received no  
support.  On that day, several UMass Democrats members posted about volunteer opportunities 
on other campaigns and other members “liked” and responded to the posts.  Witness Eight then 
posted stating that she was working on Morse’s campaign and that anyone interested in joining 
should contact her for information.  The sole response to her post was from Witness One, who 
replied that Eastern Massachusetts elections were the only ones that mattered.  Witness Eight felt 
this response minimized the Morse congressional race and was part of a pattern of unwelcoming 
responses.  So, she quit the GroupMe.  Minutes later, she received a series of DM’s from three 
UMass Democrats board members apologizing for any unintended offense and expressing that 
they hoped she would remain active in the group. 
 

From Witness One: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
32 In early 2020, Witness Eight reports that Morse’s campaign manager, Max Clermont, told her that Witness Two 
had not responded to emails asking Witness Two to share announcements about campaign volunteer opportunities 
with UMass Democrats members. 
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Witness Eight received the following message from Student E.   
Witness Eight did not respond. 

 
Witness Eight received the following message from Student A. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Witness Eight replied to Student A:  
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 Student A responded to Witness Eight with the following message. 

See Exhibit 18.   
 
Witness Eight did not reply to Student A’s last message, nor did she speak with Student A on the 
phone.33 
 

E. Events Leading to the UMass Democrats’ Decision to Publicly Disinvite 
Morse From Future Events  

By June of 2020, the UMass Democrats board members’ internal discussions about Morse became 
fodder for media inquiries.  Several board members, including Witnesses One and Two, submitted  
to “off-the-record” interviews in which they reported what they knew or had heard secondhand 
about Morse.  On July 22, 2020, Student E responded to a Twitter post supportive of Morse with 
a tweet of her own that read, “Big thumbs down…if you know, you know.”  According to the 
Jacques Report, Students C and E received an email from Max Clermont, Morse’s campaign 
manager the very next day inviting both students to contact him to discuss the matter.34  Neither 
student responded to Clermont.  Shortly thereafter, Witness One received the following Instagram 
message from Morse – the first since Morse commented on Witness One’s Halloween costume: 
 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
33 In a separate chat, Witness One, Student A, and Student E discussed Witness Eight’s exit from the GroupMe chat 
and debated how to respond.  See Exhibit 19. 
34 According to the Jacques Report, Clermont’s email reads,  

“I saw [Student E’s] tweet about Alex Morse and I wanted to reach out to you both directly.  
I’ve been a close personal friend to Alex for years and am now managing his campaign.  I 
want to hear what you have to say and any feedback you have about him or the campaign.” 
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See Exhibit 20. 
 
Witness One did not respond to Morse’s message, and reports that he blocked Morse from 
communicating with him again on Instagram. 
 
According to Witness Two, UMass Democrats and College Democrats board members began 
speaking to the media because they had come to believe that Morse’s conduct rendered him unfit 
for congressional office. Morse’s campaign was gaining national attention and, according to 
Witness One, he and his fellow UMass Democrats and College Democrats leaders felt compelled 
to publicize their decision not to support his campaign so as to discourage others from voting for 
him.  He describes feeling a sense of “urgency” that was exacerbated by the “pressure” of constant 
media inquiries about Morse.   
 
Witness One describes Student A as especially adamant that the group needed to go public with 
what they knew.  As previously discussed, Student A had reported to her fellow board members 
that two different UMass students had reported to her that they each had sexual encounters with 
Morse.  She and others clearly articulated their views in the board members’ GroupMe chat: 
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Student A stated: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a 
 
Student E similarly expressed: 
 
 
 
 
Yet another UMass Democrats board member shared: 
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 21. 
 
With Witness One’s help, Student A drafted a statement regarding Morse’s behavior that she 
intended to post on Twitter, though she ultimately did not post it.  By July 23, 2020, Witness One, 
Student A, and College Democrats board members, led by Student C, were in agreement that the 
organizations would co-author a statement regarding the allegations against Morse.  Student A’s 
unsent Twitter statement formed the basis for the letter the group ultimately sent. 
 
Witness One recalled that as the students prepared the written statement to Morse, Student C began 
contacting Massachusetts Democratic Party officials for advice on the best approach for delivering 
or releasing the statement.  According to Witness One, Student C spoke first to an attorney for the 
Young Democrats of Massachusetts who advised against making a public statement, warning that 
persons who wanted to remain anonymous would eventually have to be named if there was legal 
action.35 

 
 
35 According to the Jacques Report, Student C stated that the Young Democrats of Massachusetts also advised against 
making a private statement to Morse, and recommended that the students contact a Title IX attorney or someone in 
UMass administration since Morse taught there.  College Democrats did not follow this advice.  It is unclear whether 
Student C passed the recommendation along to her UMass Democrats colleagues.  However, none of the UMass 
Democrats board members reported or advised the University faculty or administration about the Morse matter prior 
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Student C also sought guidance from Gus Bickford of the Massachusetts Democratic Party.  
Bickford, along with Veronica Martinez, another state party official, agreed to meet with the group 
on the evening of July 28, 2020 via videoconference.  During the meeting, Witness One told 
Bickford and Martinez about his experience with Morse and about other students that 
communicated with Morse on Tinder and Instagram.  Student C told them about students she knew 
who Morse followed on Instagram and were put in his “close friends” story.  Student A told them 
about her friend who had sexual contact with Morse and who later felt uncomfortable by the 
“power dynamic.”  Witness One recalled that Bickford was surprised by their allegations because 
he knew Morse and did not know him to behave inappropriately.  Still, Bickford sympathized with 
the students’ concerns and proposed that they consult with the state party’s attorney, Jim 
Roosevelt, for his recommendations. 
 
On July 29, 2020, Student C met with Bickford and Martinez again.  She reported the results of 
that meeting to Witness One and others in the GroupMe chat: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Exhibit 22. 
 
In the chat, Student C goes on to describe advice she received from Bickford and Roosevelt about 
the potential legal ramifications of leaking the letter to the media.  See id. 
 
On July 31, 2020, Witness One held a Zoom video call with UMass Democrats board members 
from the current and previous academic years and asked them to sign on to the letter “in solidarity” 
with College Democrats.  Witness Two and Witness Seven attended the Zoom call.  They both 
recall that, during the meeting, Witness One used Zoom’s “share screen” function to show 
everyone the proposed letter while he verbally summarized its contents.  The board then voted to 
sign on to the letter.  Witness Seven acknowledged, however, that at the time of the board’s vote, 
Student A was the only board member who had received a firsthand account from a UMass student 
who reported having had sexual contact with Morse and feeling uncomfortable about it, and 

 
 
to release of the letter.  On the eve of the letter’s release, Witness One states that Student A contacted the University’s 
Student Legal Services Office but that they did not receive a response before August 6th. 
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Witness One was the only board member who personally communicated with Morse on social 
media and reported feeling uncomfortable about it.  While the board members were aware of two 
UMass Democrats non-board members who Morse followed on Instagram after the October 5th 
College Democrats event, it does not appear that those students reported a degree of discomfort 
with Morse that would require UMass Democrats to disinvite Morse from future events, nor does 
it appear that the board members sought input from these students prior to reaching their decision.36 
 
On August 6, 2020, Student C, acting on behalf of College Democrats, UMass Democrats, and 
Amherst College Democrats, emailed the groups’ statement to Morse and his campaign.  See 
Exhibit 1.37 
 

F. Events Following the August 6, 2020 Letter to Morse 

On August 9, 2020, Morse issued a public statement wherein he admitted to having had consensual 
relationships with local college students whom he met using dating apps; however, he denied ever 
having a non-consensual sexual encounter with anyone, and denied that he ever used his position 
as Mayor of Holyoke or a UMass lecturer for romantic or sexual gain or to take advantage of 
students.  See Exhibit 3.  By August 11, 2020, a competing narrative began to emerge, one that 
highlighted the apparent inconsistency between the jovial tone and mocking nature of text and chat 
messages involving UMass Democrats board members and the letter’s claims that Morse engaged 
in predatory behavior.  In addition to the leak of a number of these messages to the media, a number 
of UMass Democrats non-board members publicly described Witness Two’s purported hope for 
future job prospects with Morse’s opponent in the congressional race, and his having openly 
contemplated leaking allegations of Morse’s conduct to the media to “sink [Morse’s] campaign.”  
 
In response to the articles, numerous people emailed Witnesses One and Two condemning the 
allegations against Morse as unsubstantiated and accusing the students of promoting homophobic 
stereotypes about members of the LGBTQ community.  See, e.g. Exhibits 23 and 24.  Backlash 
against them and other UMass Democrats board members was widespread and sometimes vitriolic.  
 
While stopping short of  retracting the allegations against Morse, the UMass Democrats board sent 
Morse an email apologizing for the homophobic backlash that resulted from media reports of the 
allegations against him.  See Exhibit 2.38  According to Witness Seven, she and the other board 
members wanted to make clear that they did not intend for the August 6, 2020 letter to be made 

 
 
36 According to the Jacques Report, Student C reported that students did not want to attend College Democrats events 
out of concern for Morse “trolling” after events and “connecting with young students.”  
37 In addition to the email sent to Morse, Student C also emailed all College Democrats chapter presidents a statement 
drafted by Attorney Roosevelt which advised that the boards of College Democrats, UMass Democrats, and Amherst 
College Democrats voted to disinvite Morse from future events due to his interactions with students.  See Exhibit 4. 
38 According to Witness Seven, Morse did not respond to the email.  
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public,39 and that they did not intend to alienate Morse’s supporters within UMass Democrats.    
Witness Seven reported that, in hindsight, the letter’s tone was “careless” in that it fed into 
homophobic stereotypes.  She also acknowledged that the UMass Democrats board members did 
not have firsthand knowledge of some of the letter’s allegations.  However, based on what they 
knew at the time, she felt that there were “real victims” of Morse’s conduct in the student 
community and that no one on the board had any malicious intent.  
 
On September 3, 2020, Morse lost the democratic primary election in his congressional race.  
 
IV. Applicable Policies & Guidelines 

The Investigators assessed Morse’s alleged conduct to determine whether a preponderance of the 
evidence supported a finding that he violated the following University policies:40 

 University Policy on Consensual Relationships between Faculty and Students (See 
Appendix A); 

 University Principles of Employee Conduct (See Appendix B); and 

 University Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, and Related Interpersonal 
Violence (See Appendix C). 

V. Findings and Closing 

A. Alex Morse Frequently Communicated with University Students on Social 
Media in a Manner Reasonably Interpreted by Those Students and Others as 
Suggestive of His Intent to Pursue Dating or Sexual Relationships.  

The preponderance of the evidence supports a finding that, as early as 2015, members of UMass 
Democrats and other University students were contacted by and communicated with Alex Morse 
on social media and dating apps like Tinder and Instagram.  As Morse himself admits, he entered 
into personal and dating relationships with students he met using these apps.  According to multiple 
witnesses, Morse’s conduct was widely known amongst UMass Democrats and others in the 
University community either through their own personal experience or secondhand accounts from 
their friends and fellow students.  The Investigators interviewed three (3) UMass Democrats 
members with whom Morse initiated or fostered communication in the immediate aftermath of the 

 
 
39 Based on the GroupMe chats, however, it appears that several of the College Democrats and UMass Democrats 
board members intended to leak, if not the letter itself, its central allegations.  
40 The University’s standalone Title IX policy took effect after the conduct alleged in the College Democrats August 
6th letter.  Prior to that time, such conduct was assessed pursuant to the UMass Policy Against Discrimination, 
Harassment and Related Interpersonal Violence (2018 version). 
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October 5, 2019 College Democrats kick-off event.  The evidence also shows that a fourth 
individual, a non-UMass student, was contacted later that month.   

While the messages these students received are not overtly sexual in nature, they do not contain 
offers of volunteer opportunities with the campaign or similar language.  Instead, the exchanges, 
with their various “get to know you” type questions and heart-shaped emojis from Morse, are of 
the type one would expect college-aged peers to engage in with one another.  Morse was not a part 
of the students’ peer group, however, and the messages were not viewed in isolation.  Rather, the 
recipients and others with whom they shared Morse’s communications interpreted Morse’s 
messages as suggestive of his intent to pursue dating or sexual relationships with students due, in 
large part, to Morse’s reputation in the community as someone who engaged with students on 
social media and entered into dating and sexual relationships with students.  His past conduct, 
largely conceded by Morse himself, could not be divorced from the messages these students were 
reading and Morse’s seemingly purposeful exclusion of their female friends from such 
communications.  That interpretation was reasonable under the circumstances and the Investigators 
conclude that the preponderance of the evidence supports a finding that Morse communicated with 
University students in pursuit of dating or sexual relationships with students. 

B. Alex Morse’s Pursuit of Dating or Sexual Relationships with University 
Students via Social Media did not Violate the University’s Policy on 
Consensual Relationships because Morse did not have Grading, Supervisory, 
Advisory or Employment Responsibility for the Students.  

The University Policy on Consensual Relationships Between Faculty and Students provides, in 
pertinent part:  

In order to avoid any conflict of interest or abuse of authority, any faculty member 
who has any responsibility for supervision, evaluation, grading, advising, 
employment, or other instructional or supervisory activity related to a student or 
postdoc is prohibited from entering into a sexual relationship with that individual 
beginning with the effective date of this policy. 

 
The College Democrats August 6th letter raises three central allegations: (1) that Morse regularly 
matched with its members and other students on dating apps such as Tinder and Grindr; (2) that 
Morse used College Democrats events to meet college students and to later connect with them via 
social media in a manner that made the students uncomfortable; and (3) that Morse had sexual 
contact with college students including University students.  Of these central allegations only the 
third, that Morse had sexual contact with University students, is contemplated by the University’s 
Policy on Consensual Relationships Between Faculty and Students, which prohibits sexual 
relationships between faculty and students over whom the faculty member has responsibility for 
supervision, evaluation, grading, advising, employment, or other instructional or supervisory 
activity.  In its policy, the University strongly discourages faculty from engaging in such 
relationships, characterizing them as “inherently problematic” in nature and “inconsistent with the 
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educational mission of the University.”  By its terms, however, the policy does not appear to 
prohibit faculty members from pursuing sexual relationships with students over whom the faculty 
member has the aforementioned responsibilities.  Where, like here, the preponderance of the 
evidence supports a finding that Morse intended to, but did not, engage in such relationships, the 
Investigators cannot conclude that his conduct violated the policy and leave to the University 
leadership to determine whether the policy should be amended or whether the conduct alleged here 
is violative of some other generalized employee conduct policy. 
 
Even if the Investigators were to interpret the policy broadly to encompass Morse’s purported 
pursuit of such relationships, there is insufficient evidence that the UMass Democrats members 
and others with whom Morse engaged on social media were students in Morse’s class at the time 
of the communications or that Morse had some other supervisory, advisory or employment 
relationship with the students with whom he engaged on social media.41  While the Investigators 
received multiple witness reports of current and former University students who either matched 
with Morse on Tinder or had sexual relationships with Morse, including those students that Student 
A revealed to UMass Democrats and College Democrats board members prior to the letter’s 
release, the Investigators could not confirm these reports and none of the students identified were 
students in Morse’s class or appear to have been supervised, advised, or employed by Morse.42  
The lone exception, Student B, who reportedly told Witness Two (and others) that he matched 
with Morse on Tinder, was a student in Morse’s class prior to implementation of the Consensual 
Relationships policy.43    The Investigators similarly note that both Witness Three and Witness Six 
approached Morse at the October 2019 College Democrats event to inquire about potential 
internships or other volunteer opportunities.  Those efforts, if successful, may have created 
employment or supervisory relationships between Morse and these students that arguably would 
have implicated the Consensual Relationships policy.  However, neither student continued his 
online communications with Morse after feeling discomfited by his initial messages. 
 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
41 It appears that the College Democrats and UMass Democrats board members conceded as much as they drafted the 
letter disinviting him from future events.  See Exhibit 25. 
42 Among the unconfirmed secondhand reports the Investigators received was that of Student F, who is purported to 
have had sexual contact with Morse and having expressed feelings of discomfort about the encounter after the fact. 
The Investigators note that Student F has not been a student in Morse’s class and, as such, a sexual relationship 
between he and Morse, even if confirmed, would not violate the terms of the Consensual Relationships policy. 
43 Student B did not respond to interview requests. 
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C. Alex Morse’s Pursuit of Dating or Sexual Relationships with University 
Students Made a Number of Students Uncomfortable and Led to the UMass 
Democrats’ Decision to Disinvite Him from Future Events but did not 
Unreasonably Interfere with any Student’s Academic Performance or Ability 
to Participate in University Programs or Activities under the University’s 
Sexual Harassment Policy.  

The Policy provides, in relevant part:44 
 
Sexual Harassment is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature when: 
 

i. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term 
or condition of an individual’s employment, education, or participation 
in University programs or activities; or 

ii. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a person is used as a basis 
for employment or educational decisions affecting such person or 
persons, or participation in University programs or activities; or 

iii. Such conduct unreasonably interferes with a person or person’s work or 
academic performance; interferes with or limits a person or person’s 
ability to participate in or benefit from a work or academic program or 
activity; or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working or 
academic environment. 

 
Unlike the Consensual Relationships policy, the University policy against sexual harassment does 
not require the existence of a sexual relationship nor does it require that the faculty member have 
a grading or supervisory relationship over the involved student.  Rather, for purposes of this matter, 
it prohibits “unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature” that: unreasonably interferes with a student’s 
academic performance; limits a student’s ability to participate in or benefit from an academic 
program or activity; or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive academic environment.   
 
Having concluded that the preponderance of the evidence supports a finding that Morse 
communicated with students on social media in pursuit of dating or sexual relationships with 
students, the Investigators also conclude that Morse’s conduct was sexual in nature.  As detailed 
above, Morse’s messages, while not overtly sexual, when viewed in the light of his reputed and 
admitted history of engaging in dating and sexual relationships with students, could be and were 
reasonably interpreted by students to be suggestive of his intent to pursue such relationships here.  
The weight of the evidence also supports a finding  that at least two students, Witness One and 
Witness Six,  viewed Morse’s conduct as unwelcome.45 

 
 
44 The applicable Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment and Related Interpersonal Violence is that which was in 
effect  during the time of Morse’s alleged misconduct (2014-2019).  The policy was updated and reissued on August 
14, 2020.  
45 According to the Jacques Report, Witness Three also characterized Morse’s communications as “creepy.” 
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Witnesses One and Six both cut off communications with Morse based on their individual 
discomfort with the direction in which the messages appeared to be taking.  For Witness One, 
Morse’s appreciation of Witness One’s Halloween costume, which Witness One believed to be 
somewhat provocative in nature, confirmed his belief that Morse sought to engage him in a sexual 
relationship.46  Witness Six was almost immediately unsettled by the overly familiar tone of 
Morse’s initial message coupled with Morse’s apparently purposeful exclusion of Witness Six’s 
female friend from the communications.47  However, neither Witness One nor Witness Six 
reported, nor does the evidence support a finding,  that Morse’s conduct interfered with their ability 
to participate in University programs or activities or that Morse’s conduct created, for them, a 
hostile or offensive academic environment.  As such, the Investigators conclude that Morse’s 
conduct, while unwelcome and of a sexual nature, did not run afoul of the University’s sexual 
harassment policy. 
 
The protections of the University’s sexual harassment policy are not limited to the students who 
were the subject of Morse’s unwelcome conduct, however.  The evidence shows that multiple 
UMass Democrats board members and others were also discomfited by Morse’s conduct and that 
discomfort ultimately led to the August 6, 2020 decision to disinvite Morse from future College 
Democrats and UMass Democrats events.  In addition to hearing from Witnesses One and Six, the 
evidence suggests that the board members received multiple reports from their members relating 
to Morse’s social media communications and alleged sexual activities.  One board member, 
Student A, claimed to have heard, firsthand, from a University student who had sexual contact 
with Morse and became uncomfortable about the encounter after learning that Morse was the 
Mayor of Holyoke.  College Democrats and UMass Democrats board members determined that 
the August 6, 2020 letter disinviting Morse from future events was warranted because of numerous 
requests from “students who have been personally affected by Morse’s actions” that the 
organizations refrain from working with Morse in the future.  While events sponsored by UMass 
Democrats, a registered student organization, may constitute “University programs or activities” 
for purposes of the sexual harassment policy, the pre-August 6, 2020 measures board members 
took to exclude Morse illustrate that Morse’s presence at future events was not required.  Similarly, 
there is insufficient evidence of any student having reported that Morse’s presence at future events 
would unreasonably interfere with their ability to participate to a degree that would warrant a 
finding that Morse’s conduct violated the policy. 
 

 
 
46 Witness One admits that his discomfort with Morse’s conduct stemmed from Morse’s status as an elected official 
rather than his position on the University’s faculty and points to the power imbalance created by Morse’s political 
influence as contributing to his sense that he had no choice but to respond to Morse’s messages. 
47 Witness Six signaled his intent to cut off communications with Morse by sending what he thought to be a closed-
end response to Morse’s message.  Morse replied with a heart-shaped emoji.  See Exhibit 10. 
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D. Alex Morse’s Pursuit of Dating or Sexual Relationships with University 
Students May Be Inconsistent with the University’s Principles of Employee 
Conduct. 

Having determined that the preponderance of the evidence does not support a finding that Morse’s 
pursuit of dating or sexual relationships with students he met at student-organized events violated 
the letter of the aforementioned policies, the Investigators defer to University leadership’s 
judgment the question of whether the conduct falls short of other more generalized policies 
governing employee conduct including the University’s Principles of Employee Conduct which 
details the University’s values, standards, and expectations for its employees. See Appendix B. 
 
VI. List of Exhibits 

Exhibit 1. College Democrats’ August 6, 2020 Email to Alex Morse Disinviting  
  Morse from Future Events 

Exhibit 2. UMass Democrats Board’s August 28, 2020 Letter of Apology   
  to Alex Morse 

Exhibit 3. Alex Morse’s August 9, 2020 Public Statement Regarding the College  
  Democrats Letter  

Exhibit 4. College Democrats Board’s August 7, 2020 Email to its Chapter Presidents 
Advising of the Board’s Decision to Disinvite Morse from Future Events 
(draft and final versions) 

Exhibit 5. Student C’s July 25, 2019 Email to Alex Morse Inviting Morse to Attend 
the College Democrats October 5, 2019 Western MA Kickoff Event 

Exhibit 6. Western Mass Politics & Insight, “Has Morse Begun to Telegraph His Next 
Move,” (April 15, 2019) 

Exhibit 7. Screenshot of Witness One’s September 2019 Notification of Tinder Match 
with Alex Morse 

Exhibit 8. Witness Two’s September 16, 2019 to Alex Morse requesting campaign 
volunteer opportunities on behalf of UMass Democrats 

Exhibit 9. Screenshots of Witness One and Three’s October 6, 2019 Text Messages 
Regarding their Instagram Communications with Alex Morse 

Exhibit 10. Screenshots of Witness Six’s October 8, 2019 Instagram Communications 
with Alex Morse 
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Exhibit 11. Screenshots of Witness One, Witness Two and Student C’s October 8, 2019 
Chat Messages Regarding Alex Morse’s Instagram Outreach to Witness Six 

Exhibit 12. Screenshots of Witness One’s October 2019 Instagram Communications 
with Alex Morse 

Exhibit 13. Witness One, Witness Two and Student C’s October 6, 2019 Chat Messages 
Regarding Alex Morse’s Instagram Communications with Witness One 

Exhibit 14. UMass Democrats Board Members’ October 6, 2019 Chat Messages 
Regarding Alex Morse’s Conduct  

Exhibit 15. UMass Democrats Board Members’ November 6, 2019 Chat Messages 
Regarding the University’s Policy on Consensual Relationships  

Exhibit 16. Witness One, Witness Two and Student C’s October 24, 2019 Chat 
Messages Regarding Alex Morse’s Instagram Outreach to Student G  

Exhibit 17. Screenshots of Witness Two and Witness Three’s October 2019 Text 
Messages Regarding Morse’s Conduct 

Exhibit 18. Screenshots of Witness Eight’s August 2, 2020 Messages from UMass 
Democrats Board Members  

Exhibit 19. UMass Democrats Board Members’ August 2, 2020 Chat Messages 
Regarding Witness Eight 

Exhibit 20. Screenshot of Alex Morse’s June 2020 Instagram Message to Witness One  

Exhibit 21. UMass Democrats Board Members June 28, 2020 Chat Messages 
Regarding Decision to Publicize Allegations Against Alex Morse 

Exhibit 22. Witness One, Student A, Student C, and Student G’s July 29, 2020 Chat 
Messages Regarding Communications with the Democratic State 
Committee  

Exhibit 23. August 11, 2020 email to Witness One Regarding the College Democrats 
Letter 

Exhibit 24. August 12, 2020 email to Witness Two Regarding the College Democrats 
Letter 
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Exhibit 25. Witness One, Student A, Student C and Student G’s July 23, 2020 Chat 
Messages Regarding Alex Morse’s Conduct  

VII. List of Appendices 

Appendix A. University Policy on Consensual Relationships between Faculty and 
Students 

Appendix B. University Principles of Employee Conduct 

Appendix C. University Policy Against Discrimination, Harassment, and Related 
Interpersonal Violence 
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From:
Sent: Fri 8/7/2020 10:30:55 AM (UTC-04:00)
Subject: Important Notice about the Morse Campaign

Hi everyone, 

The boards of College Democrats of Massachusetts, UMass Amherst Democrats, and Amherst College Democrats have voted to notify Mayor Alex 
Morse and his campaign that he is no longer welcome at any of our events. This action was taken at the request of student members of the 
organizations. It is not based on his ideology or any current or past political contest. It is based on his past interactions with these students.

On advice of legal counsel, we cannot share additional information about those effected, but we are happy to chat with anyone about this—just be 
aware that the answers we can provide to your questions will be incredibly limited. 

Signed, 

College Democrats of Massachusetts
UMass Amherst Democrats
Amherst College Democrats 
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Appendix A 



Policy on Consensual Relationships Between Faculty and Students 

The University’s Sexual Harassment Policy prohibits unwelcomed sexual 

advances, but what about situations where both parties willingly consent? Dating or 

sexual relationships between faculty and students or post-docs (hereafter, “sexual 

relationships”) are also inherently problematic because of the unequal power dynamic 

between the parties to the relationship, the responsibility of faculty for evaluating 

students’ work, the possibility that other faculty and students may be adversely affected, 

and because such relationships diminish the trust and respect that ordinarily characterize 

the faculty-student relationship and are therefore inconsistent with the educational 

mission of the University. For these reasons, the University strongly discourages such 

relationships, even when both parties willingly consent.  

In order to avoid any conflict of interest or abuse of authority, any faculty 

member who has any responsibility for supervision, evaluation, grading, advising, 

employment, or other instructional or supervisory activity related to a student or postdoc 

is prohibited from entering into a sexual relationship with that individual beginning with 

the effective date of this policy. For relationships that predate this policy or that began 

before the faculty member assumed the responsibilities, the faculty member must 

immediately disclose the relationship to their immediate supervisor and, if possible, 

remove himself/herself/themselves from these responsibilities.  

Where a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest or abuse of authority 

exists in the context of a sexual relationship between a faculty member and a student or 

post-doc predates this policy or arose before the faculty-student relationship or 

responsibility began, the faculty member involved shall notify their immediate 

supervisor.  The supervisor shall have the responsibility of making arrangements to 

eliminate any conflict of interest that might prove detrimental to the University or to 

either party in the relationship, while at the same time maximizing the student/post-doc’s 

educational and professional opportunities. Violations of this policy should be reported to 

the faculty member’s supervisor, who will deal with the matter in accordance with 

University policy and relevant collective bargaining agreements. 

Nothing in this policy should be construed to override or alter the campus Sexual 

Harassment Policy, http://www.umass.edu/eod/SexualHarassmentPolicy.pdf.  

Questions about the Consensual Relationships policy should be directed to 

Associate Provost Michael Eagen. 
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Passed by the BoT
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UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS 
PRINCIPLES OF EMPLOYEE CONDUCT 

Institutions of higher education are entrusted with great resources and commensurably great 
responsibilities.  They must meet their mission of research, teaching, and service in ways that truly enrich 
the society that supports them and truly serve the students, parents, and alumni who in joining the 
university community become life-long members of the extended university learning family.  College and 
university leaders play a key role in assuring that high standards of ethical practice attend to the delivery 
of services to their various constituents and to the custody and use by all their faculty, staff and students 
of the resources entrusted to them.  The University of Massachusetts embraces the values expressed in 
these Principles of Employee Conduct and expects their observance by all its employees. 

University employees are entrusted with public resources and are expected to understand their 
responsibilities with respect to conflicts of interest and to behave in ways consistent both with 
law and with University policy.

University employees are expected to be competent and to strive to advance competence both in 
themselves and in others. 

The conduct of University employees is expected to be characterized by integrity and dignity, and 
they should expect and encourage such conduct by others. 

University employees are expected to be honest and conduct themselves in ways that accord 
respect to themselves and others. 

University employees are expected to accept full responsibility for their actions and to strive to 
serve others and accord fair and just treatment to all. 

University employees are expected to conduct themselves in ways that foster forthright 
expression of opinion and tolerance for the view of others. 

University employees are expected to be aware of and understand those institutional objectives 
and policies relevant to their job responsibilities, be capable of appropriately interpreting them 
within and beyond the institution, and contribute constructively to their ongoing evaluation and 
reformulation.

The University is responsible for communicating to University employees the content of these Principles 
of Employee Conduct and for ensuring that the standards of conduct contained herein are met. 
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The University expects to provide its employees: 

a work environment that is professional and supportive; 

a clear sense of the duties of their job, the procedures for performance review, and access to 
relevant University policies and procedures; 

within the scope of each employee's assigned areas of authority and responsibility, the duty to 
exercise appropriate judgment and initiative in performing duties; 

the right to seek appropriate review of matters that violate the ethical principles contained in these 
Principles.
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UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST

POLICY AGAINST DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT, 
AND RELATED INTERPERSONAL VIOLENCE

Including Sexual and Gender-Based Harassment, Sexual 
Assault, Sexual Exploitation, Intimate Partner Violence,

Stalking, Complicity, and Retaliation
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C. SEXUAL HARASSMENT
Sexual Harassment is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature when:

i. submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or
condition of an individual’s employment, education, or participation in
University programs or activities; or

ii. submission to or rejection of such conduct by a person or persons is used as a
basis for employment or educational decisions affecting such person or
persons, or participation in University programs or activities; or

iii. such conduct unreasonably interferes with a person or person’s work or academic
performance; interferes with or limits a person or person’s ability to participate in
or benefit from a work or academic program or activity; or creates an
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working or academic environment.

D. SEXUAL ASSAULT
Sexual Assault is broadly defined as any sexual activity that is forced, coerced, or
unwanted.

Consent is permission to engage in communication and/or a specific, mutually-
agreed upon sexual activity that is given freely, actively, and knowingly, using
mutually understandable and unambiguous words or actions, or—in plain
language—to agree to do the same thing, at the same time, in the same way, with
each other.

Consent cannot be inferred by silence, passivity, or not resisting;
Consent cannot be implied by a current or previous dating or sexual
relationship;
Consent to one form of sexual activity does not imply consent to other
forms of sexual activity;
Consent is not indefinite; it is revocable and may be withdrawn at any
time, using words or actions such that a reasonable person would
understand a lack of continued consent;
Consent cannot be given by person who is

o Asleep;
o Incapacitated by drugs or alcohol;
o Unconscious;
o Mentally or physically incapacitated; or
o Under duress, intimidation, threat, coercion, or force.

Consent cannot be given by a person under the age of 16.




